1963

Larry Nicholson v. The Industrial Comm. Of Utah et al : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is a proceeding under the Industrial Act for recovery of workmen's compensation benefits claimed by plaintiff for the loss of an eye arising in the course of his employment with the defendant, Americana Corporation.

DISPOSITION BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

Hearings were held in this case in October and November of 1961. On January 17, 1962, the Industrial Commission made an order denying plaintiff's claim upon the ground that plaintiff was not an "employee" entitled to the benefits of the workmen's compensation laws. Plaintiff thereupon appealed to the Supreme Court of Utah. The Supreme Court concluded that plaintiff was an "employee" and on November 26, 1962, handed down its decision reversing the Industrial Commission. Although evidence had previously been heard on all issues, the defendants sought another hearing on the ground that additional evidence had been "developed" on the issue of course of employment (R. 8). The Commission set the case for hearing on February 11, 1963, at which time further evidence was taken. On the 28th day of February, 1963, the Commission made and entered its order by which it found that plaintiff was not in the course of his employment at the time of the accident. The order again denied the benefits of the Compensation Act. Plaintiff petitioned for rehearing and rehearing was denied on March 29, 1963.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The case is before this Court on a writ of certiorari. Plaintiff seeks reversal of the order of the Industrial Commission and an order directing judgment in favor of plaintiff, or that failing, a new hearing.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff's evidence shows that on June 27, 1961, plaintiff was removing a sales kit from the rear seat of his automobile in preparation for a demonstration of the sales materials. In doing so, he dislodged a seat cover hook which, when stretched back into place, slipped out of his hand and drove a metal fastener into his eye. The result was complete loss of sight in his right eye. Defendants denied liability contending that plaintiff was not an employee and that the accident did not occur in the course of employment. This Court in a previous appeal held that plaintiff was an "employee" of the defendant within the meaning of the Industrial Act. *Nicholson v. Industrial Commission*, 14 Utah 2d 3, 376 P.2d 386. The issue presented in this appeal is whether or not the Commission has erred in arriving at a finding that the accident was not employment connected.

At the time of the accident plaintiff was an employee of Americana under an employment agreement which required him to devote his "entire time and services" to the sale of his employer's publications, and to represent the employer "in the manner directed" (Exhibit 2). The plaintiff was required by Americana to furnish his own automobile and the same was used regularly in company business (R. 19, 67). Sales work was performed by making appointments in advance with prospective purchasers. The sales presentation (pitch) was then made in the home. In the course of his work

plaintiff was furnished with a sales demonstration kit containing materials to be used with the pitch. The sales materials or "broadsides" were withdrawn from the sales kit in a predetermined sequence so as to coordinate the use of visual aids with the pitch.

The accident occurred at the home of a fellow salesman, Dean Ellis. Nicholson had gone to the Ellis home in preparation for a sales trip to be taken by Nicholson and Ellis with the district manager and area manager of Americana Corporation. As part of the preparation for this trip Nicholson had planned to show Ellis a new sales pitch on a publication of the Americana Corporation known as the "Classics Series." Ellis had specifically requested of his superiors in the company that he be instructed on this sales pitch, and Nicholson had been directed by his area manager and also the district manager to show the pitch to Ellis. Plaintiff's evidence shows that the accident occurred while he was removing the sales kit from the rear seat of his automobile so that he could show the Classics pitch to Ellis and arrange the materials therein in proper order for sales presentations to be made later that day.

Plaintiff explained the accident as follows:

(R. 39-40)

"Q. All right. Then what happened that day? Starting with the morning, if you will. I think you said you made some appointments for that evening?

A. Yes, sir. Well, the events of that day were briefly I made appointments for later on in the

afternoon, and later on that day I had gone over to Dean's and cleaned up my car, washed my car, and swept it out, and then told Dean—he was eating lunch at the time—so I told him I'd be back in a couple of hours, and I took my wife to a dentist appointment, picked up some shirts I had laundered, and come back to Dean's for business and to arrange our trip, and I told Dean I was going out to the car to—

Q. Before we get into that. When you returned to his house the second time, and while you were there is when the accident had occurred; is that correct?

A. Yes, sir."

(R. 41)

"Q. Now then, after you arrived at his house the second time, will you relate what happened?

A. I got to the house, and talked to Dean. I knocked on the door, and he said he was going to be out in back with his kids, so I says: 'Well, since we have a little time right now,' he had asked me to run through the classics—we had talked about it before—I says: 'Just a minute. I'll go get the kit, because I'll have to organize it before I can make a pitch, and also I'll run through, take a half hour and show you the classics.'

(R. 43)

"Q. Now when you went out to get the kit from the car, relate exactly what happened.

A. I opened the door on the right-hand side, pushed the seat forward and slid the kit out, and on sliding it out, I knocked loose one of the straps, elasticized straps that hold down the

Terrycloth seat covers—there are, oh, about or 10 straps that hold it down—and, knocking it loose, I set the kit on the ground, reached in to refasten the elasticized strap, which has a little metal “S” hook on it, and in stretching it or looking for a place to refasten it, the hook slipped out of my fingers and slipped back to go into my eye. It pierced my eyelid, going through my eye.”

This testimony was given at the first hearing on October 16, 1961. There was no other evidence offered at that time as to the details of the accident. There was evidence corroborating the fact that plaintiff and Ellis were due on a sales trip the day of the accident and that plaintiff had been directed by his superiors to instruct Ellis on the Classics pitch.

At the final hearing on February 11, 1963, defendants called three witnesses on the issue of course of employment: Dean Ellis (an employee of defendant Americana) and Mr. and Mrs. Leo Linford (estranged in-laws of the plaintiff Nicholson).

Though Ellis had never previously testified in this case, defense counsel sought to show by his testimony that he had been coached by plaintiff (R. 18). This effort was unsuccessful. On cross examination, Ellis as defendant's employee and witness, gave the following significant testimony:

(R. 21)

“Q. Now did you associate with Mr. Nicholson prior to the accident, on a social basis?

A. Uh-uh.

Q. *What contact you did have was strictly on a business basis; is that correct?*

A. Yes.

Q. That is you were selling for Americana, and he was selling for Americana?

A. (Nodding head in the affirmative.)

Q. Answer that audibly.

A. Yes."

(R. 24-26)

"Q. Now Mr. Nicholson was down at your home on the day of the accident? Was that correct.

A. Yes.

Q. *Why was he there?*

A. *Well, basically to get me and get ready for this trip, and then he was going to show me this stuff too.*

Q. Were you making a sales trip on that day?

A. Yes. They were waiting for us in Brigham.

Q. For Americana?

A. Well, both. Americana and, if I learned, the Harvard Classics. If I got it by then.

Q. Well, the Classics was being sold by the Americana people; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. So this trip was being taken for the purpose of selling the books of the Americana Company?

A. Yes.

Q. And when you say they were waiting for you in Brigham City, this is Gene Smith and Harry Pledger and one other salesman; is that correct?

A. I don't know if it was one or two. But some of the office from Ogden.

Q. *Now was there any other reason at all for Mr. Nicholson to be at your home on that day?*

A. No.

Q. Now he came twice that day to your home, didn't he?

MR. CHRISTENSEN: I'm going to object here to your leading, Mr. Macfarlane.

MR. MACFARLANE: It's your witness.

THE REFEREE: Go ahead.

A. What?

MR. MACFARLANE: Q. Mr. Nicholson had been to your home twice on that day, hadn't he?

A. Yes.

Q. And the first time—

A. Well, yes, he was there twice. Totally.

Q. And the first time he came to your home you were eating lunch; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. About what time was that?

A. I don't remember exactly. It was in the afternoon sometime. We eat lunch there, you

know, as a rule it's not 12:00 o'clock, because we run an orchard, and it was later in the afternoon, but I don't know exactly what time.

Q. All right. Did he leave, after he came and found you eating your lunch?

A. Well, he went out and straightened up his car, and then went to pick up his wife."

(R. 27-31)

"Q. Now then, after he straightened up his car he did leave, and then subsequently returned to your place; is that correct?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. When he returned, where were you?

A. In the house.

Q. What were you doing in the house?

A. I don't know.

Q. Had you made any preparations for this trip?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you have a sales kit?

A. Just after he came I went out and got my sales kit, and was finishing straightening it up. You always go through your sales kit before you go on a trip, so you can make a presentation in a house. And I went out on the back lawn. Now I may have even been out on the back lawn when he came. I don't know whether this was when he came, or just after, or what.

Q. Well, when he arrived at your house, were you or had you just been in the course of preparing your sales kit for this trip?

A. Yes.

Q. And in preparing your sales kit, it is necessary to take the materials out and arrange them in a specific order; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And then you put new contracts and new what they call broadsides into the kit itself; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And this is what you were doing when Larry came the second time?

A. Yes.

Q. Now when he came up to your house the second time, did he come up to the front door and knock? Or do you know?

A. I guess.

Q. Did you have a conversation with him?

A. Yes.

Q. And do you recall the substance of that conversation?

A. As to the detail, or to—*Just that I was to go get my stuff ready, and he was going to get his stuff and come around, and that was basically it.*

Q. *Now when you say he was going to get his stuff, what do you mean by that?*

A. His kit. Out of his car.

Q. Now did he ever return with his kit?

A. No.

Q. And what is the next thing that you knew?

A. *My wife came out to the back door and hollered that Larry had been hurt, and this was*

about, oh, several minutes later. I mean it didn't just happen, you know, bang, bang. Two or three minutes later my wife came out, and I wondered where Larry was. I thought it was him, but she said he was hurt. Then I went in the house, and he was lying on the front room floor, with blood all over his face.

* * *

Q. And where was the sales kit, Mr. Nicholson's kit, when you returned?

A. Well, Larry had asked me to go back and get the stuff that was out on the lawn. The stuff he had out.

Q. Now where with reference to the door of the automobile, or the automobile of Mr. Nicholson, was the sales kit? I know you don't know how many inches or how many feet, but was it close, or far, or—

A. Well, it was there by the side of the car.

Q. Now you and Mr. Nicholson were going to make a trip to Brigham City later that day to sell Americana, and that was why Mr. Nicholson was there; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Now do you know whether or not Mr. Nicholson was going to show you the Classics on that day?

A. Yes.

Q. Was he?

A. Yes.

Q. Was he going to show you the Classics before this sales trip was made?

A. Yes." (Emphasis added).

Defendants apparently contend that the accident occurred while Nicholson was engaged in installing a new set of seat covers on his automobile. In support of this contention defendants called Leo and Lorna Linford, former in-laws of Nicholson. Neither of these people had any personal knowledge of the circumstances of the accident but testified as to purported admissions made by Nicholson following the accident.

Lorna Linford testified that Nicholson told her:

(R. 36-37)

“ . . . he had been washing his car and putting this new seat cover on. He said he was just on the last part when this pin that hooks the seat cover flipped and hit him in the eye.”

Defense counsel asked Mrs. Linford if Nicholson had ever used the word “coached” with reference to his conversations with Ellis, and she replied, “I don’t recall” (R. 37). Counsel asked if Nicholson ever used the term that he was going to “work out an angle,” and Mrs. Linford replied, “I don’t recall right now. I don’t know” (R. 38). Defense counsel was then permitted over timely objection to, in effect, impeach his own witness by referring her to a statement she had given to Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company in November of 1962, whereupon she testified that Nicholson had said “he was going to work it so that he would get more for his eye” and “he was going to take the insurance company for all they were worth” (R. 39-40). Mrs. Linford testified that she contacted the insurance

company on her own initiative in November of 1962 (R. 40).

The cross examination of Mrs. Linford was very revealing. After the first hearings in October and November of 1961 and before November of 1962 when the Linfords contacted Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, several significant events occurred. Nicholson had been married to Linfords' daughter, Darlene. They were divorced in the fall of 1961 (R. 41). Darlene went to California and the two children of the marriage (Curtis and Sherry) remained with the Linfords in their home (R. 41). The Linfords were very attached to these children. In December of 1961, Nicholson took custody of Curtis, though the Linfords were very much opposed to allowing him to take the child from their home (R. 43). Mrs. Linford acknowledged that there was a feeling of "animosity and bitterness" that developed as a result of the divorce and Nicholson's assumption of the custody of his child (R. 44). Nicholson continued to visit his daughter, Sherry, at the Linford home, but notwithstanding his requests he was not permitted to take the child at any time for a full day (R. 45). Meanwhile, Darlene was sent to prison in California for misapplication of bank funds (R. 46). Mrs. Linford testified that she felt Nicholson was to blame for the divorce of her daughter and that he was also to blame for the trouble Darlene got into in California (R. 46-47). In August of 1962, Mrs. Linford took Sherry to California with her to visit Darlene (R. 47). She planned to stay "a week or a little longer"

(R. 47). Upon learning that his child was to be taken out of the state, Nicholson filed a petition for custody of Sherry in the District Court of Weber County naming the Linfords as defendants. Mrs. Linford learned of the petition when she arrived in California and she stayed there for two months moving from place to place because of the "trouble he was causing" (R. 50). Darlene was released from prison in October of 1962, and Mrs. Linford remained in California with her a while, moving from Los Angeles to San Francisco (R. 53). She then left Darlene, instructing her not to tell Nicholson where she was (R. 53). Mrs. Linford returned to Utah with the custody of Sherry still very much in her mind. Asked as to her attitude in November of 1962 (when the insurance company was contacted), Mrs. Linford testified:

(R. 55-56)

"Q. Yours was an attitude of considerable bitterness toward Mr. Larry Nicholson at that time, was it not?

A. For all the expense and trouble he had caused. *He had called our home, and threatened that he would use every cent that he would get from this insurance company to do everything he could.*

Q. *So that in contacting the insurance company, your motive was to hurt him at that time; isn't that correct?*

A. *For all he had put us through, yes.*

Q. And isn't it a fact that you had told him on

many occasions prior to November of 1962, that you hoped that he would get his money? That he was entitled to it?

A. I hoped he got something from it, yes. Because he was entitled for having his eye hurt.

Q. Didn't you tell him you thought he was entitled to be compensated?

A. To get something, yes . . ." (Emphasis added).

Mrs. Linford was apparently concerned as to how Nicholson would use the money he got from the insurance company. Notwithstanding her instruction to Darlene not to communicate with Larry, Darlene called Larry and arranged to place Sherry in her father's custody (R. 54-55). Both Curtis and Sherry were in their father's custody at the time of the second hearing.

Leo Linford was called by defendants pursuant to subpoena. Defense counsel stated at the commencement of the hearing that Leo Linford had called him from Ogden about 7:00 o'clock a.m. that morning to advise counsel that Linford "had only a little French car and the highway patrol was not letting sports cars on the highway" and that Mrs. Linford "was in California" and "not available at the present time" (R. 13, 14). Counsel advised Linford that he would have to contact the Industrial Commission to be excused. Shortly after the commencement of the hearing, which started at 9:00 o'clock a.m., Linford and his wife walked into the hearing room (See R. 21).

The exclusion rule had been invoked and Linford did not have the opportunity to hear his wife testify before he took the stand. His wife had testified that she and her husband took the initiative in contacting the insurance company in November of 1962 (R. 40). Leo Linford said that he didn't remember whether he contacted the insurance company or whether the company contacted him (R. 66, 67), though he did remember clearly some purported conversations that took place a year prior to the contact with the insurance company (R. 67).

Leo Linford testified over objection that he "believed" that Dean Ellis was in the hospital room on the day of the accident along with Nicholson's parents (R. 61) and that Ellis "said that Larry Nicholson was putting seat covers on his car, after having washed it, and that the last hook that he had to fasten didn't make the connection and sprung out and hit him in the eye" (R. 63). Linford said that Larry later told him "the same story" (R. 64). Linford also stated that Nicholson said "he had worked out an angle" (R. 64) and that he was "going to have to work on Mr. Ellis." Linford said he thought the latter conversation took place after the first hearing in October of 1961 (R. 66).

Linford's cross examination, like that of his wife, disclosed that there was a great deal of antagonism between him and Larry as a result of the divorce, his daughter's imprisonment and the custody fight for Nicholson's two children (R. 70-72).

Larry Nicholson was called at the final hearing and he testified again that he went to the Ellis home twice on the day of the accident. On the first occasion Ellis was eating his lunch and so Nicholson washed his car and cleaned it out lightly (R. 77). Nicholson then left to handle some personal business, after which he returned again to the Ellis home (R. 77). On the second occasion he took no action to clean the car or set it in order (R. 78). Defense counsel objected to going into the details of the accident since Nicholson's testimony was already in the record from the first hearing (about 16 months before) (R. 78). Plaintiff's counsel refrained from again eliciting the details of the accident from Nicholson upon the assurance from the Commissioner that the earlier testimony would be reviewed and considered in deciding the case (R. 78. See also R. 12).

Nicholson testified that the seat covers were not new and that he had purchased them several months before (R. 79). This was corroborated by Ellis (R. 17). He said that when the custody fight was initiated in August of 1962, Leo Linford threatened to shoot him (R. 81). He denied that he had told the Linfords that he was putting on new seat covers when the accident occurred or that he had said he was working an angle or coaching Ellis (R. 79-80).

Larry Nicholson's father, Robert A. Nicholson, testified that in August of 1962, Leo Linford called him and told him that he (Linford) "had told Larry what he would do to him. He advised me to keep Larry away

from him. *That he was certainly going to even the score*" (R. 83-84). Larry's father testified that Linford called him again (during the course of the custody fight) and told him how upset he was with Larry (R. 84). Robert Nicholson denied that the Linfords were ever in the hospital room with him and his wife and Larry (R. 87) and testified that the Linfords had never had any discussion with Larry about the accident in Mr. Nicholson's presence (R. 87).

Ellis was recalled and testified that he never told the Linfords that the accident occurred while seat covers were being installed (R. 91). He said that Larry had not told him what to say or how to say it (R. 91).

At the close of the evidence the case was taken under advisement, and on the 28th day of February the Commission handed down its decision whereby it concluded that Nicholson was not in the course of his employment at the time of the accident.

This appeal challenges that finding.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE ORDER OF THE COMMISSION SHOWS ON ITS FACE THAT THE COMMISSION, CONTRARY TO THE STIPULATED PLAN OF PROCEDURE, IGNORED THE EVIDENCE OFFERED AT THE FIRST

HEARING AND ERRONEOUSLY INTERPRETED THE EVIDENCE RECEIVED AT THE FINAL HEARING.

Plaintiff's testimony on the occurrence of the accident was taken before Roland G. Robinson, Jr., referee, on October 16, 1961. The final hearing on February 11, 1963, was conducted by Commissioner Otto A. Wiesley. At the commencement of that hearing the following understanding was had between counsel and the referee:

(R. 12)

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