1963

# Larry Nicholson v. The Industrial Comm. Of Utah et al : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

As we understand the position of the plaintiff in this case, he contends that there is no substantial evidence in the record to support the findings of the Commission; that the findings of the Commission are therefore arbitrary and capricious, and that the findings should be set aside and the order of the Commission reversed. In other words, plaintiff contends that the evidence compels a finding in his favor.

The scope of review of an industrial proceeding by this court is set forth in Section 35-1-84, U.C.A. 1953, which, insofar as material here, reads as follows:

"The review shall not be extended further than to determine:

"(1) Whether or not the commission acted without or in excess of its powers.

"(2) If findings of fact are made, whether or not such findings of fact support the award under review."

We also invite the court's attention to the language of Section 35-1-85, U.C.A., 1953, which reads, in part, as follows:

"The findings and conclusions of the commission *on questions of fact shall be conclusive and final and shall not be subject to review*; such questions of fact shall include ultimate facts and the findings and conclusions of the Commission."  
(Italics ours.)

These two statutes circumscribe the scope and extent of review by this court of industrial proceedings. Almost from the inception of the Compensation Act, they have been before this court for review in innumerable cases, and this court has unwaveringly followed both the letter and the spirit of the statutes. The rule of decision was well stated by this Court in the early case of *Amalgamated Sugar Co. v. Ind. Comm.*, 56 Utah 90, 189 P. 69. It was there said:

"The only question raised and presented to this court for consideration is whether or not

there is any substantial testimony in the record which tends to support the finding of the Commission \* \* \*

“\* \* \* It would subserve no good purpose to review the testimony in detail which tends to support the conflicting theories of the respective parties. In this class of cases, under our statutes, this court is confined to a review of the testimony and findings of the Commission for the sole purpose of determining whether or not there is any substantial evidence in the record to support the award. . . . *If there is any substantial evidence in the record to support the findings of the Commission and the ultimate facts found by the Commission support the award*, we as a reviewing court, under our statutes, cannot do otherwise than enter judgment affirming the award made by the Commission.” (Italics ours.)

The above rule was restated and reaffirmed in a long line of cases following that decision. However, notwithstanding the oft reiterated exposition of the rule, cases attacking the findings of the Commission continued to come before this court, and in the case of *Adams v. Ind. Comm.*, 67 Utah 157, 246 P. 364, this court, apparently somewhat annoyed at the need for restating the rule so frequently, admonished the bar as follows:

“Counsel and litigants in these cases should understand once and for all that this court is powerless to review the evidence except for the purposes heretofore frequently declared by the court in a long series of well-considered cases.  
\* \* \*

“This court is now firmly committed to the doctrine that it will examine into the evidence only to ascertain whether there is any substantial

evidence in support of the findings of the commission and whether it has either acted without or in excess of its jurisdiction. \* \* \* ”

There followed another long line of decisions to the same effect, but it again became necessary for this court to lecture the bar of the state in the case of *Leventis v. Industrial Comm.*, 84 Utah 174, 35 P.2d 770 in the following terms:

“In view of the record and the findings of the commission, our course is an open highway, marked by an unbroken line of decisions which have the support of both natural justice and of common sense. The principles involved are so limpid and axiomatic that their recitation or a citation thereof would be an adscititious burden. Therefore, we move straight toward a conclusion. In all respects the findings are supported by substantial competent evidence, which this court can neither weigh nor review, *as the commissioners are the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses and of the weight of the evidence.*” (Emphasis our.)

Even stronger language was used in the case of *Park Utah Consol. Mines Co. v. Industrial Comm.*, 84 Utah 481, 36 P.2d 979. It was there said:

“It seems daft and unjust, certainly malapropos, that this court should be required to repeatedly expostulate with legists about principles so well established, and to so frequently reaffirm that *the findings and conclusions of the commission on questions of fact are conclusive, and final and are not subject to review . . . and that they cannot be disturbed unless it appears as a matter of law that they are contrary to law*

*and contrary to the evidence. We cannot weigh conflicting evidence, nor direct which of the two or more reasonable inferences ought to be drawn from evidence not in conflict. \* \* \** In the determining of facts *the conclusions of the commission are like the verdict of a jury, and will not be interfered with by this court when supported by some substantial evidence.*" (Emphasis ours.)

This court has continued to follow the same rule of decision down to the present time. Apparently the most recent reaffirmation is in the case of *Hackford v. Industrial Comm.*, (Ut.), 380 P.2d 927.

The problem presented to the court in this case can be well stated by quoting from the language of this court in the case of *Peterson v. Industrial Comm.*, 102 Utah 175, 129 P.2d 563, where it is said:

"In the instant case we are not asked to determine if there is any evidence to support the finding of the commission. We are asked to determine that the probative force of the evidence is such as compels a finding contrary to that made by the commission. The commission having denied an award, found no liability on the insurance carrier or employer, we are asked to declare that the evidence requires or compels a holding to the contrary; that the findings are so against the evidence as to find no support therein; that there is nothing in the evidence upon which a reasonable mind, a judicious mind could rest in arriving at a conclusion, and therefore the conclusion must have been arrived at arbitrarily or capriciously without regard to the evidence. \* \* \*

"\* \* \* To be a reasonable conclusion it must be one for which from the evidence one can give

reasons which a judicious mind would deem worthy of consideration, upon which it would be content to rest a judgment. In the case of denial of compensation, the record must disclose that there is material, substantial, competent, uncontradicted evidence sufficient to make a disregard of it justify the conclusion as a matter of law, that the Industrial Commission arbitrarily and capriciously disregarded the evidence, or unreasonably refused to believe such evidence. \* \* \*

“\* \* \* If there is substantial, competent evidence to sustain it, then it cannot be said to be arbitrary or capricious. \* \* \*”

As shown by the authorities above set forth, this court has historically been reluctant to interfere with the holdings of the Commission, and has reversed its orders, or set aside its findings of fact, only in the clearest of cases. One of the leading cases dealing with the question of what is necessary to warrant a reversal of the Commission on its findings of fact, was *Kavalinakis v. Ind. Comm.*, 57 Utah 174, 246 P. 698. The rule there laid down is as follows:

“By what has been said we do not wish to be understood as holding that there is no limit to the commission’s power or authority in disregarding or in refusing to give effect to uncontradicted evidence. The commission may not, without any reason or cause, arbitrarily or capriciously refuse to believe and to act upon credible evidence which is unquestioned and undisputed. What we hold is that in case the commission is charged with having arbitrarily and capriciously refused to consider credible evidence, and we are asked to overturn the findings and conclusions of the

commission which appear to be in conflict with or contrary to the evidence, *it must be clearly made to appear to us that the commission acted arbitrarily or capriciously and wholly without cause* in rejecting or in refusing to give effect to the evidence. We cannot set aside a finding or conclusion of fact merely because we are of the opinion that upon the face of the record the commission refused to give effect to certain uncontradicted evidence. *Before we can set aside findings or conclusions of fact, the fact that the commission acted arbitrarily or capriciously must be so clear and convincing that but one conclusion is permissible*, and that we would be required to issue a writ of mandate directing a specific finding of dependency, as we are empowered to do by subdivision (d) of section 3148, *supra*. Any other conclusion would make this court merely a reviewing court with power to weigh the probative effect of the evidence.” (Italics ours.)

In the case of *Norris v. Ind. Comm.*, 90 Utah 256, 61 P.2d 413, this court further refined the principles of the *Kavalinakis* case, and set forth definite criteria by which to measure the sufficiency of the evidence to support the findings of the commission. The standards there laid down were as follows:

“Where the matter presented on appeal is the question of whether the commission should have in law arrived at a conclusion of fact different from that at which it did arrive from the evidence, a question of law is presented only when it is claimed that the commission could only arrive at the conclusion from the evidence, and that it found contrary to that inevitable conclusion.

But in order to reverse the commission in this regard it must appear *at least* that (a) *the evidence is uncontradicted*, and (b) *there is nothing in the record which is intrinsically discrediting to the uncontradicted testimony* and (c) *that the uncontradicted evidence is not wholly that of interested witnesses*, or, if the uncontradicted evidence is wholly or partly from others than interested witnesses, that the record shows no bias or prejudice on the part of such other witnesses, and (d) the uncontradicted evidence is such as to carry a measure of conviction to the reasonable mind and sustain the burden of proof, and (e) *precludes any other explanation or hypothesis as being more or equally as reasonable*, and (f) there is nothing in the record which would indicate the presence of the witnesses gave the commission such an advantage over the court in aid to its conclusions that the conclusions should for that reason be disturbed." (Emphasis ours.)

The principles of the *Kavalinakis* and *Norris* cases have been oft repeated and steadfastly followed, as illustrated by the following cases: *Kent v. Ind. Comm.*, 89 Utah 381, 57 P.2d 724; *O'Brien v. Ind. Comm.*, 90 Utah 266, 61 P.2d 418; *West v. Ind. Comm.*, 90 Utah 262, 61 P.2d 416; *Milkovich v. Ind. Comm.*, 91 Utah 498, 64 P.2d 1920; *Johnson v. Ind. Comm.*, 93 Utah 493, 73 P.2d 1308; *Stoddard v. Ind. Comm.*, 103 Utah 351, 135 P.2d 174; *Lorange v. Ind. Comm.*, 107 Utah 261, 153 P.2d 272; *Bailey v. Ind. Comm.*, 110 Utah 395, 174 P.2d 429.

Applying the tests of the *Norris* case to the facts of this case, we find that at least four of the conditions necessary for reversal are missing here:

1. The evidence is not contradicted. The plaintiff himself has not told an entirely consistent story, and there is evidence from others that he has told entirely different stories as to how the accident happened.

2. There is much in the record which discredits the testimony of the plaintiff.

3. The claim of the plaintiff is based wholly upon his own testimony, uncorroborated in any part, by that of any disinterested witness.

4. The evidence presents at least an equal probability that the accident occurred in a manner different from that contended by the plaintiff in this hearing.

It follows therefore, that plaintiff has failed to sustain his burden of proof and further, that he has wholly failed to establish the matters necessary to warrant a reversal of the findings of the Industrial Commission.

Commencing at page 33 of his brief, plaintiff cites several cases from other jurisdictions wherein compensation benefits were allowed for injuries or death of employees while engaged in work in and about their personal automobiles. However, an examination of those cases will reveal that in every instance an award was made in the first instance by the tribunal having original jurisdiction of the claim, and the reviewing court merely affirmed the action of the lower tribunal. In other words, the Industrial Commission, or an equivalent court or board, found as a matter of fact that the accident arose out of, or in the course of, the employment. Such

findings were uniformly upheld. Those decisions are all entirely consistent with the position advocated by defendants here, namely that the findings of fact of the commission are not subject to review, and, when supported by any substantial evidence, must be upheld. For example, in *Hilyard v. Lohmann-Johnson Drilling Co.*, (Kan.), 211 P.2d 89, cited in plaintiff's brief at pages 34 and 35, the court said:

"It is the function of the trial court to pass upon the facts in a workmen's compensation case, and where its findings are supported by substantial, competent evidence they will not be disturbed on appeal. \* \* \*

"The scope of this court's appellate review is limited to 'questions of law', which in the final analysis simply means that its duty is to determine whether the trial court's factual findings are supported by any substantial, competent evidence. \* \* \* "

And in *Kingsley v. Donovan*, 169 App. Div. 828, 155 N.Y.S. 801, cited in the plaintiff's brief at page 34, the court in upholding the award by the State Compensation Commission, wherein it was determined that the applicant was in the course of his employment, said: "... under Secs. 22 and 21 of the Workmen's Compensation law the decision of the commission is conclusive upon the facts."

All of the other cases cited and relied upon by plaintiff are to the same effect. Further, in all of these cases, the evidence established that at the time of the accident, the employee was either on, or in the vicinity

of his employer's premises; or that the accident occurred during regular working hours, or both. In addition, in most of those cases, there was evidence that the employee received some compensation or reimbursement for the expense of operating his automobile in his employer's business. In the instant suit the plaintiff was not on his employer's premises, and he had no regular working hours. The cost of operating and maintaining his automobile was borne entirely by himself. These decisions, therefore, do not in any wise support the claim of the plaintiff, but insofar as they are of any value at all as guides or precedents to this court, they support the position of defendants.

### CONCLUSION

The plaintiff has the burden of proving that the accident arose out of, or in the course of his employment, by a **preponderance of the evidence**. The only evidence offered to support plaintiff's claim is his own uncorroborated testimony. The Industrial Commission elected to believe the conflicting testimony of other witnesses. Even plaintiff's own testimony establishes that he was engaged in an activity outside the scope of his employment duties at the time the accident occurred. Therefore, under an unbroken line of precedents established by this court, the order of the commission should be affirmed.